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Preface.

FEW words of preface seem called for in the
circumstances under which this little work is
issued. It does not presume to the dignity of

a history, but seeks simply to act the humbler part
of a guide, recalling the more important incidents
from the records of the city of Bombay and pointing
out en passant the most salient features of interest.

The present edition has been considerably enlarged
and further embellished with a series of views repro-
duced from photographs, and with its fund of general
information, its Maps, and portable form, will, it is
hoped, prove a useful companion to the visitor.




ii Preface,

The plan followed has been to divide the ¢city into
several districts and under the heading of a “Round-
about Ramble” to conductthe sightseer through localities
which embrace (1) The Esplanade and Fort, (2) Colaba,

* (3) Malabar Hill, (4) Byculla and Mazagon, and (5)
Parel and the northern suburbs of the island, each jour-
ney being complete in itself.

The guide is prefaced by & brief history of the city
and supplemented by other information descriptive of
the most important “Places of Interest ” in the vicinity
of the capital of the Bombay Presidency.
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I

A Glance at Bombay's Past,

HE territories comprised within the boundaries
@ of the Indian Peninsula, and especially the
districts of the Bombay Presidency, are richly
crowded with places of antiquarian, archzological, and
historical interest ; yet none surpass either in these
aspects or in natural picturesqueness, beauty, and
salubrity of situation, the city of Bombay—the Capital
of the Western Presidency. Situated in lat, 18° 53 45"
and long 72° 52/, the island of Bombay may be described
as being almost surrounded by water. Its western
shores are washed by the Indian Ocean, the waters of
which go to form the magnificent harbour on the eastern
side of the city. The island, which is about ten miles
in length, from Colaba in the south to Mahim and Sion
in the North, is of irregular shape, and, with the excep-
tion of Malabar and Cumballa Hills,the former being about
180 feet in height, is but a few feet above sea level. The
commercial city proper, as separated from the native
town and suburbs, is located on the narrow point of land




2 Bombay the Beautiful.

to the north of Colaba,and although the

have long since been

as the Fort, while

sites on the adjoining

been built on land reclaimed

Bay side of the island. The city, which has
recent years been appropriately called
Beautiful,” possesses natural advantages both
of residence and for defence that must have in
years singled it out as a fayourable site for
The earlier records of its history are somewhat
in obscurity, for although previous to the tenth
it is stated to have been called by the natives *
it was not until the latter period that its

¢ Bombay, " was first mentioned historically.

In giving a brief summary of the most important
events that have transpired during the past five hundred
years, it may be as well to mention that Bombay was
first occupied by Europeans in 1332, a Portuguese force
having in that year captured the islands, which two years
later was, with the neighbouring islands of Salsette and
Bassein, ceded to them by the King of Gujerat, Early
in the seventeenth century a treaty was entered into
between the English and Portuguese, which allowed the
former to trade at Bombay, and in 1661 the island was
ceded to the British as part of the dowry of the Infanta
Catherina on her marriage with Charles II,, the treaty
specifying that the gift was for the better improvement
of English interest and commerce in the East Indies,
The Earl of Marlborough and Sir Abraham Shipmen,
with five men-of-war and five hundred soldiers, arrived



A Quaint Ceremony. 3

two years later to take overformal possession, but difficul-
ties arose in connection with the negotiations, with the
result that King Charles did not have complete control
of the island till about 1664. The population at that
time was only some 10,000 souls, and the yearly revenue
a very little over £6,000, and the King, after the lapse
of a few years, finding the acquisition unprofitable,
handed it over to the East India Company ¢ on payment
of an annual rental of £10.” The Commissioners
deputed to take over the island arrived in the Company’s
ship “ Constantinople Merchant ” and gave the following
interesting details in their account of the ceremony which
took place on the 23rd September, 1668 :—* At our
landing we were mett by Governor Gary, etc,, Officers
who at the head of their several Companys military
drawne up, by the sea side received us with very much
respect and ceremony ; and soe accompanyed us in to
the Fort ; where Governor Gary caused all the soldiers
to make their approach toward us in military order,
first being by the Cheife Officers commanded to lay downe
their armes, and to march towards us without them, yet
in decent Ranke, and there in the head of them all he
he made a short speech, much to the honour and praise
of the Honble Company and caused his Majesty’s Privy
Seale to be publiquely read. At which the officers and
soldiers for the generality were well pleased, that his
Majesty had disposed the Island to the Honble Companys
to whom they own'd obedient. After which we cause the
Company’s Commission to the President and Council,
together with your Commission to us to be also reac
publiquely, which being done they marched back to theis




4 . The

armes, and tooke them

when John Goodier made

and confirm them in their

man his former quality and pay. ' The

were very instrumental im their

stations to promote our desires,

pany’s Interest, when divers soldiers
service, and with their mutinons

have infected many more, who layed

denying any future service, wherefore we

to confine them in a room, in order to

bord, which when they saw they used the
Captain Toldery, that they mightbe

armes again, promising much obedience for

were received accordingly, only lost this by
fractoriness, that civility and kindness we
shew them, we are now enforced to exchange for a more
reserved demeanour, ”

Following the taking over of the Island the Company
made liberal provisions for the defence of the town and
for the encouragement of trade, with the result that on’
Dr. John Fryer payinga visit in 1673, he found the
population had increased to 60,000 persons, and in a
description of Bombay stated that 120 pieces of ordnance
were mounted within the Castle, and in alluding to the
present Fort District, which comprises the locality now
bounded by Rampart Row, Esplanade and Hornby
Roads, and Fort Street, describes the then town as being
a mile in length, the houses, with the exception of those
left by the Portuguese and some built by the Company,
as being low and thatched with leaves. The Custom
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Military Operations. 5

House and, warehouses were tiled, oystershells being
used-in the windows instead of glass. There was also a
reasonably handsome bazaar at one end of the town
looking into a field where cows and buffaloes grazed.

About this period the Portuguese and Mahrattas gave
considerable trouble to the English. In 1688 the Sidee
Admiral of the Great Mogal captured Mazagon, and after-
wards laid siege to Bombay Castle, but the English even-
tually persuaded the Mogal Emperor to get his Admiral
to withdraw his forces to the north of the Island. In
1721 the Mahratta chief Angria and the Portuguese gave
further trouble, fired on Mahim Fort, and built a battery
at Coorla. Tanna in 1739 was captured from the latter
by the Mahrattas, and in 1756 Angria’s strongholds to
the south of Bombay were captured by the English, the
pirate chief being taken prisoner by Admiral Watson
and Colonel Clive. Towards the close of the eighteenth
century Bombay despatched several expeditions against
the Mahrattas, sanguinary engagements taking place at
Tanna, Kalyan, Wurgaum, and Bassein, and resulting in
a treaty that gave the British possession of Salsette,
Elephanta, Karanja, and Hog Islands, in exchange for
Bassein, the English outposts being advanced to Tanna.
About the beginning of the last century Bombay
furnished troops for the various campaigns in Mysore
and the south, the local army at that time consisting of
three European and nine Native Regiments. General
Wellesley, writing in 1804, alluding to the defenceless-
ness of the city, declined to send away the 84th European
Regiment, as it was the only one left in garrison, and,
in view of probable combination of the French and
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Dutch Indian squadrons,

of Bombay ought not to be

ary operations followed against

and in 1817 the battle of Kirkee

the Peshwa and occupation of Poona,
acquired the following year, and the
annexed in 1848, the Province of
conquered in 1843 by a force under Sir
Mutiny year, 1857, passed fairly
Bombay army was concerned, but

of a local native regiment having been
ating treason were in that year blown from
the Esplanade. ’

The Great Indian Peninsula Railway, the

structed in the Presidency, was opened to

1853, the Bombay, Baroda and Central Indian

entering the city in 1864. On the opening of the Suez
Canal, the P. & O. Company took up the contract for a
weekly mail service to Europe, a monthly service via the
Persian Gulf having first been inaugurated in 1798, the
postage rate by the latter service then being: Fot
each letter Rs. 10 per } tola, Rs. 15 per 4 tola, and Rs.
20 per tola. ’

Bombay's latter history partakes wholly of a pacific
and prosperous character. Its extension has been steady
though slow, and great improvements have in course of
years been made in the condition of its streets, markets,
and public edifices. The visitor need not think he is
wasting time, however long he tarriesin thecity, It is -
one of the most remarkable as well as one of the largest
and liveliest cities on the earth, its *“native town " in
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some respects being the most characteristic to be seen in
India. The new public buildings are magnificent, nature
everywhere enhancing their architectural beauty. The
view from Malabar Hill, covered with commodious bung-
alows and rich gardens—the dark hills making a back-
ground to the sparkling blue of thendian Ocean, and to
the shipping beyond Colaba—extends over as fair

prospect as Asia can furnish. Its spacious markets
are cleaner and better arranged than any others in the
British Empire ; its Victoria Terminus is a sumptuous
Palace of Travel, and, whatever faults may be found
with the various styles adopted by official designers, the
general effect of the groups of buildings between the
Fort and Malabar Hill is certainly good. These labours,
which have transformed Bombay from a fishing village
to the virtual Metropolis of India, can only be judged by
those who remember the place in the days of the great
Mutiny. Where are now seen clean and broad roads
green maidans, stately groves of trees, spires, towers, and
imposing facades, was half a century ago an unfavour-
able foreshore extended from Colaba northwards. Once
settled at an hotel or in the house of some friend, the
stranger will doubtless become familiar with the hand.
some buildings, such as the Sailors’ Home, the new Secre-
tariat, the University Hall and Rajabai Clock Tower, the
High Court, Public Works Offices, Post and -Telegraph
Offices, Statue of the Queen-Empress, and the Terminus
of the G. I. P. Railway ; but the native city and its
population are really, however, the most interesting
feature of Bombay, and to see it at its best the visitor
should take an early morning stroll in the Crawford
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Markets or a drive in
Rahman Street.

The triangle between
Kalbadevi Roads contains an
peninsula,and a good portion of
medans live chiefly along the
and the Parsees at Dhobee

mosques, temples, and and.
ceaseless the flood of Asiatic

sombre in colour like a
colours. And when
Face he will findjon
once a wild, rocky
to-day a cultured paradise of
living. From the Ridge, or the Ladies’
view of the splendid city, with its
and its hills, cannot be surpassed.

The Municipal history of Bombay is of
recent date. Previous to 1872 civic affairs were
ed by a Commissioner and a Bench of Justices, but
the latter year the Municipal Bill received the
of Government, the first elections taking place in
A new Act came into force in 1888 by which it was
down that the Municipal Corporation should consist
seventy-two members, sixteen of whom are
by Government, sixteen by the Bench of Justices,
by the University, two by the Chamber of
and thirty-six elected by the ratepayers at the _
elections, for a period of three years. The Standing
Committee consists of twelve members, four nominated*
by Government and the remainder elected by the.
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Corporation, each body annually electing its own chair-
man. The principal executive officer is the Commis-
sioner, who is aided by a strong and well-paid staff of
Health Officers and Engineers.

Bombay is rapidly becoming a first-class manu-
facturing town. The total number of spinning and
weaving mills working and in course of erection
numbering eighty, containing 25,33,382 spindles,
in addition to 23,125 looms, and employing a daily
average of 86,913 hands; the yearly consumption of
cotton averaging 4,93,114 candies. There are also a
few silk factories and numerous iron foundries and work_
shops. The valuable foreshore properties on the harbour
side of the city are administered by the Port Trust, the
board of which consists of members nominated by Gov-
ernment, the Chamber of Commerce, and the public.
The revenues of the Trust amount annually to about
fifty lakhs of rupees.

On lands owned by the Bombay Port Trust and
Bombay Improvement Trust there has during the past
few years been erected a large number of handsome
buildings, mainly set apart for residences for Europeans.
The whole of the area lying to the eastward of Colaba
Causeway and covering land between the Sailors’ Home
and Grant Buildings, has now practically been covered
with a number of four and five storey dwellings, many of
which are well designed, and afford accommodation for
a large number of European families. The whole of the
estate on which these flats and buildings have been
erected belongs to the Port Trust, who also own large
areas of land on the harbour side of the island. Near
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the Ballard Pier the Trustees have

good deal of land and laid out broad

propose making further improvements’

where a new dock, 2,600 feet 4

gether with a wharf alongside which the

will be able to land passengers. S
The works for the defence of the harbour

from attack by sea consist of three well

forts situated at Colaba, Malabar Hill, and

and three harbour Forts, namely, Oyster

Colaba), Middle Ground (off the Apollo

Cross Island (off the Prince’s Dock). All these
are armed with ro-inch R.M.L., 10-inch R.B.L,,

R.B.L. guns, and in addition are protected by
firing and machine guns. The above

supplemented by the vessels of the Royal Navy.

force comprising the military garrison consists of three
companies European garrison artillery, one British in-
fantry regiment, two native infantry regiments, two
sections of sub-marine miners, the Light Horse, Artillery
and Rifle Volunteers, and the head quarters companies
of the Great Indian Peninsular Railway and Bombay,

Baroda and Central India Railway Volunteers.




H Round Hbout Ramble.

The Esplanade and Fort,

HE visitor desirous of seeing the most important
@ places of interest within the neighbourhood of
the Esplanade, and what is still known as the
Fort, should select as his starting point the WELLINGTON
FounTAIN, which will be found at the south end of the
Esplanade Road, and in close proximity to the principal
hotels of the city. The fountain which occupies a
commanding position in the centre of the open space
facing the Sailors’ Home, was erected by public sub-
scription to the memory of the Duke of Wellington.
The RovarL Arrrep SarLors’ Home, which occu-
pies one of the finest sites in the city at the top of the
Apollo Bunder Road, was erected at a cost of Rs. 3,66,629.
Its construction was commenced in 1872 and finished
four years later, when Lord Lytton, then Viceroy of
India, opened the Home. Towards the cost of construc.
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tion H. H. Khunderao,

Rs. 2,00,000 in

the Duke of Edinburgh,

was originally laid in a less

Hornby Road, from which

ed to its present site. The building

270 feet, and is 55 feet in breadth,

that on the north being 114 feet and that

58 feet in length. A medallion of the '

over the entrance porch. The Home,

with blue basalt, is built with Porbunder,

Hemnagar stone, and is embellished with

sculpture, that on the front gable

with nymphs and seahorses. There a

for the use of the inmates, the dining-room and

ies being large and lofty, Its objects areto provide
men frequenting the port with board and lodging .at &
moderate charge; to protect them from imposition andiex.
tortion ; to encourage them to husband their hardearned
wages, and to provide them, through the Superinten-
dent of the Home, with a safe depository for their savings
and a medium of remitting the same withsecurity to their
friends at home ; to promote their moral, intellectualj
and professional improvement, and to afford them the
opportunity of religious instruction. The Home, which
is conducted on principles of order, comfort, and libera~
lity, is also a refuge for the shipwrecked and distressed .
mariner..

Passing down the Bunder Road, to the east of the
Sailors’ Home will be found the well-arranged stables of
the BoMBay PosTaL DEPARTMENT, situated at thg.
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end of a short lane to the left, near which the visitor
will observe a block of buildings known as the ESPLANADE
HoTEL ANNEXE, erected in the Elizabethan style.

In the block of buildings on the right of the road are
the RipoN and VoLuNTEER ARTILLERY CLuBs. The
“ Ripon, ” which is the leading Parsee Club in the city,
was called after the late Viceroy of that name, and is
managed on the same basis as the principal European
clubs. The rooms are attractively furnished and well
adapted to the requirements of the members.

Situated in well laid out grounds and occupying a
prominent position on the harbour frontage, are the
buildings of the RovaL BomBay YacHr Crus, which
consist of two blocks, one on either side of the roadway,
that to the visitor’s left being the club house proper,
and the lofty one on the right the residential chambers.
The former building has been considerably enlarged in
recent years. It is in the domestic Gothic style, costing
originally about Rs, 36,000, and is a light and elegant
structure, consisting of timber framing filled in with red
brickwork and having at its south-east corner a lofty
look-out tower. The billiard-room and offices are on the
ground floor, and on the floor above, approached by a
broad staircase, is a spacious dining hall, 55 feet by 30
feet, and a large ball room. The club house also
contains cloak, reading, and dressing rooms, and is
situated in spacious grounds that are well laid out.
The building and grounds are lighted by electricity and
from the balconies or the promenade on the harbour
side a splendid view can be obtained over the waterway.
Military bands play on the promenade during certain
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evenings in the week, and in addition to
during the season, a club regatta and
place off the bunder during February.
next arrive at the head of the bunder..

The AroLLo Bunper or Wellington Pier is
have derived its name from a corruption of
pallow (a fish), and though it bedars on its
the inscription ‘ Wellington Pier,” the
tion is now seldom if ever used. The
apparently dates from about the year 1820,
then it has been lengthened and enlarged at
expense, so that at the present time, and
during the fair season, when the military bands
the adjoining Yacht Club compound, from 6
¥-30 P. M., it is one of the favourite resorts for
the roadway on those evenings being crowded with
carriages and the promenade round the bunder head
thronged with pedestrians. The view obtainable over
the harbour from the latter point is one of the finest
seascapes in the world, and with the shipping and the
middle ground battery in the foreground, and Butcher’s
Island (where the Submarine Miners are stationed),
Elephanta, Karanja, and the Ghauts in the background,
make up a picture that will long be remembered for its
beauty, either viewed during the heatof the day when
the sun plays on the water with dazzling brilliancy,
when the sun is setting and giving a pleasing effect of
light and shade, or when seen by moonlight. The
Bunder has been aptly called the ‘ Gate of Western
India, ” and, previousto the opening of the Ballard Pier
was, in the fair season, the place where most of the
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new arrivals by sea were landed. The title is still not
inappropriate, for the scene at the pier head on the
arrival or departure of the P. & O. mail steamers is one
of much bustle and excitement, as the postal mails are
still landed there, and it has for long past been the place
where Viceroys, Governors, and other distinguished
persons have arrived or departed.

The passenger pavilion at the head of the Bunder is in
the Burmese style of architecture, the pagoda-shaped
roof, which is supported on twenty-four columns, being
34 feet above the ground level. The pavilion is 100
feet in length, is ornamented with open carvings, in
which the monogram of the Port Trust is artistically
- worked, and forms a convenient shelter for persons
awaiting the arrival or departure of boats. At the north-
east corner of the Bunder is a small octagonal structure
containing a machine for registering the rise and fall of .
the tides, and close by, on the right hand side of the
road leading from the pier head, is another small buil-
ding in which are located the Postal, Customs, and
Police Offices. Passing round the harbour face of the
pier and proceeding westward towards the Lansdowne
Road, the ApoLLO BUNDER RESTAURANT, under Messrs.
Green & Co.'s management, will be noticed. A room is
set apart for the use of ladies at the east end of the
building, and overhead a good view of the harbour can
be obtained from the balcony of the dining room.

Tue Taj ManaL Horer, which occupies a large
area of land at this point is one of the most spacious
and attractive buildings erected in the city and as an
hotel is one of the finest to be found in the East. It
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possesses many pleasing
surmounted by a lofty central
arrangements are in every way
decoration of the large® dining
dther public rooms havmg ‘been
taste. The hotel can accommodate
residents.

The various residential blocka to
of the hotel have all beeni built duri
. are tenanted for the most part by
left of the Lansdowne Road is th
CHURCH, the foundatien -stone o
Bishop Thorburn. Servicesare held in
the ground floor on Sundays at 11 A/M, and ¢
upper floor being set apart for the residence of the
Minister. The three separate buildings comprising the
AroLrLo HoOTEL are located at the top of the road, and
have a commanding frontage on Colaba Causeway. The
- hotel consists of about one hundred separate suites of
rooms.

Opposite the hotel are the rooms of the Youne MeN's
CHRISTIAN ASSOCIATION. The building was erected on
land given by Government, and consists of a room set
apart for lectures and religious services, a reading room
and drawing room for members, containing the Macpher-
son Library, and a reading and coffee room open to all
comers. There are spacious verandahs round the build-
ing. Inrear of the rooms, which stand in a neat garden,
are tennis courts, an Athletic'Club, which embraces crick-
et and other games, being connected with the institution,
which has branch rooms at Grant Road. The objects of
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this Association are to promote the spiritual improvement
and general welfare of young men of all classes. The
Association is unsectarian, and is managed by a com-
mittee of representatives from the different Evangelical
Churches of Bombay,

Leaving the above rooms on his left and the fountain
on his right, the visitor will then enter the Mavo Roap,
on the left of which will be noticed the Young ‘WoMEN's
CHRISTIAN AssocIATION Building in which accommoda-
tion is provided for a large number of the members who
areengaged in business in the city, There isa large lec-
ture hall on the ground floor as well as reception and other
rooms, all well arranged for the comfort of the residents.
Proceeding down the roadway the next object of interest
is the BANDSTAND, an octagonal structure built of wood
and iron, and said to be erected on the site of the first
European Cemetery.  Military Bands play here on
certain evenings, the circle round the stand forming a
capital promenade. From this point an extensive view
can be obtained over the piece of water known as Back
Bay, which is enclosed between Colaba Point on the
south and Malabar Hill on the north. The greater por-
tion of the land along the foreshore of the bay, on which
has been constructed the B. B. & C. L. Railway line and
the Queen’s Road (the latter thoroughfare being opened
in 1870 on the occasion of the visit of the Duke of
Edinburgh) was reclaimed in former yearsand converted
into pleasant rides, open spaces, or sites for handsome
buildings. Glancing towards the south the stranger
will see the ProNG’s LiIGHTHOUSE and the spire of St.
Joun's CHURCH towering over the barracks at Colaba,

B
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and in the middle
SaNITARIUM, the
Bridge. From the
the KENNEDY Sga F
and skirts the bay,
right will be seen
and the rising ground
number of Europeans
of which is

Almost ' opposite
Barn, owned by
‘Company, Limited,
long, is open from 6
from 6 A.M. to I P.M. on

As. 4. The Back Bay Baths are reserved for ladies on
Tuesdays and Saturdays, from 10 A.M. to 1 P. M. Close to
the above is the Victoria Baths which are set apart for
the use of Parsees.

Passing the statue of the late Mr. Sorabjee S. Bengallee
and following the Mayo Road from the Bandstand in a
northern direction, on the left will be noticed the railed-
in piece of ground known as the OvAL or Rotten Row,
which forms a capital ride for equestrians, and is one
mile in circumference.

On his right hand the visitor will doubtless be
impressed by the fine range of buildings that line the
roadway, the first of which is the SEcrReETARIAT. The
building is 443 feet in length, having at each end wings
81 feetin breadth. It consists of four floors, and was
completed in March 1874, at a cost of Rs. 12,60,844.
It has a fine entrance hall on the west side, the main



University Buildings, 19

staircase communicating direct with the upper floors,
the rooms on which, with the exception of the Council
Hall and Library, are very small and inconvenient, the
exterior appearance of the edifice as seem from Back Bay
being far from attractive. The main centre of the
building is provided with arcaded verandahs on the
west or front, the remaining portion of the frontage up
to the wings being retired and protected by sun shades,
supported on brackets and corbels. On the east side
closed communication corridors run throughout the
building. The north faces of the wings are arcaded,
the south corridors being enclosed. The Council Hall
Library and Committee-rooms are on the first floor.

Crossing over the end of Fuller Road, the stranger
will next approach the well laid out University Gardens,
one of the prettiest open spaces in the city, in which
are situated the handsome buildings known as the Sir
Cowasjee Jehangir or University Hall, and the Rajabai
Tower and Library.

The University HaLw, which is the building to the
south of the Gardens, is, so far as architectural design goes
one of the most elegant on the Esplanade. It isin the
French style, was erected from the designs of the late
Sir Gilbert Scott ; cost Rs. 3,79,389, and was completed
in 1874. The hall, in which meetings of the Senate
take place, is 104 feet in length, has a breadth of 44
feet, the extreme height of the roof being 63 feet from
the Minton tiled floor. Entering by the doorway under
the porch at the north end, the building will be seen to
be provided with a gallery round three sides, supported
on ornamental iron brackets. The several windows are
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provided with a set of chimes which play daily at 6 a.m.,
1-30 P.M., § P.M., and 9 P.M, There are sixteen bells in
the clock, arranged in a couple of tiers, the eight smaller
bells forming the upper tier and the eight larger bells
the lower. The machinery is of a compound character,
one part being for the chiming of the quarters and
striking the hours, and the other for playing the tunes.
The entire cost of the Library and Tower, namely, Rs.
5,47,703, being defrayed by the gift of Premchund
Roychund, Esq. Permission to ascend the tower should
be obtained from the Registrar of the University. In
1891 two young Parsee females fell from the upper bal-
cony of the tower to the ground, a distance of 260 feet,
and met with an almost instantaneous death.

Leaving the Gardens and proceeding further along
the Mayo Road, the next building is the Hicu CourT,
a massive and somewhat sombre looking structure de-
signed by Colonel Fuller, R. E., and completed at a cost
of Rs. 16,44.528. It is built in the Gothic style and is
some 560 feet in length, 187 in breadth ; the highest
point of the roof being 178 feet from the ground, The
Judges have private staircases on the west, the entrance
for the general public being on the east or Eldon Road
side. A fine main staircase leads to the upper floors,
The Criminal Sessions Court is on the second floor,
where three Appellate and three Original Courts and
the Law Library with its valuable collection of legal
books are also located. The decorations of the Sessions
Court are in cream and gold, this Court containing two
full length portraits one of Sir John Peter Grant, Puisne
Judge, 182870, subscribed for by the people of Bombay
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in the latter year,
" February, April,
The office of the
floor ; those of the
Crown, Insolvency
Marriages, and Deaths
ground floor.

The next building
the one in which the
DEPARTMENT are
Gate Street, whichis
erected from designs
R. E. The work,
May, 1869, was carried
Col. J. A, Fuller, R,E,, E. Hart,  and
was completed in April, 1892, at a cost of Rs,
or some Rs. 24,000 under the :amount sanctioned by
Government. The main building, which is nearly 300
feet in léngth by 50 feet breadth, consists of two storeys
and a ground floor, with the addition of a third storey
over the centre portion, the highest point of the roof
being about 176 feet from the ground level. In 1894
the west wing was added on the Mayo Road side.

To the left of Mayo Road are the statues of Sir
Richard Temple, Lord Reay and Lord Sandhurst the
former having been Governor of Bombay from 1877 to
1880, the second from 1885 to 1890 and the latter fulfil-
ling a similar office from 1895 to 1900.

At the far end of Church Gate Street are the ADMINI-
STRATIVE OFFICES OF THE DBoMBAY, BARODA AND
CenTRAL INDIA RaiLway CompPANY, which were design-
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ed by the late Mr. F. W, Stevens. They occupy asite on
the piece of ground at the south end of Marine Lines,
directly opposite Church Gate Station. The style chosen
is early Gothic with an Oriental feeling, and is similarin
character and detail to the adjacent public buildings, a.
condition laid down by the Government. The building
is faced with coursed blue basalt stone, and the domes,
mouldings, cornices, enrichments, etc., are in Porebunder
stone. The length of thc west facade is 280 feet, and
with its domes and imposing central tower gives a most
effective appearance. The buildings consists of three
floors for office purposes, but in the centre there is an
extra floor for records, etc. On the ground floor accom
modation is provided for the Traffic, Police, Medical, and
Cashier's Departments, and this, ike all the other floors,
has a fine verandah all round the building. Projecting
out from the centre of the west facade is a handsome
carriage porch for general use, and on the south side is.
a similar porch, but not so large, for the use of the Agent
and heads of departments. From the hall on the ground
floor, an hydraulic lift is provided for the convenience of
passengers.  On the first floor accommodation is provided
for the Agent’s and Engineering Departments, as also a
spacious Board-room in the centre of the bnilding. The
second floor is occupied by the Audit Department and
Government Examiner of Accounts. The tower is 160
feet in height above ground level, and has an imposing
appearance from all parts of the Esplanade. The base
of the tower is square and is continued upwards in this
form to 100 feet above the ground ; it than takes the
form of an octagon, than a circular form, crowned with
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Receiving Offices being on the ground floor, and fitted
up with all conveniences for the speedy despatch of
either inland or sea cable messages.

The employes of the department have quarters provid-
ed for their use in a spacious building on Waudby Road.

QueeN VICTORIA's STATUE occupies a commanding
position at the north end of the Mayo Road where that
thoroughfare joins the Esplanade Road. The statue,
one of the finest in the city, cost, including the pedestal
and ornamental railings, Rs. 1,82,443, of which sum
H. H. Kunderao, Gaekwar of Baroda, contributed Rs.
1,65,000. The statue, which is by Nobel, is of pure white
marble. The late Queen is represented in a sitting
posture, the chair of state in which she is seated being
placed on an octagonal platform some eight feet in
height. the whole covered by a canopy reaching to a
height of 42 feet. The statue measures 7 feet 2 inches
in height, and is a masterpiece of the sculpter’s art.
The features are excellent, while the delicate manner in
which the regal robes, the ornamentation of the state
chair, and the decoration of ‘the pedestal and canopy
have been treated, place the statue in the first rank as a
work of art. The royal coat of arms is placed in a con-
spicuous position in front of the pedestal, while over the
crown at the back of the chair is the Star of India, the
Rose of England, and the ¢ Lotus of India,”” the mottoes
 Dien et Mon Droit” and “* Heaven's Light our Guide ™
being placed around the emblems on the statue, which
was unveiled by Lord Northbrook in 1872.

Having completed his tour of Mayo Road and its
objects of interest, the visitor will now enter the Espla-
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education on Western lines, that he contemplated the
establishment of a public school where Indian girls could
receive a befitting education in the English language.
His unrelaxing efforts and example gathered around him
a small body of Parsee and Hindu friends, who had
learnt to accept the principle so boldly advocated by him
that the moral advancement of the Indian people was
based on female education. With their support and
encouragement, both moral and material, the Alexandra
Native Girls English Institution took its rise on the 1st
September, 1863. It wasso named after the Princess
Alexandra of Wales (now her Majesty the Queen Consort
of England) in commemoration of her marriage in
that year.

In rear of the latter institution will be noticed several
private residences which give a good idea of the later
style of domestic street architecture adapted by residents.
At the corner of the Napier Road are the offices of the
Bomsay City IMPROVEMENT TrusT and further down
the same road, on the right will be found the FrEre
FLETCHER ScHooL, which owes its origin to the late
Miss Prescott, who was instrumental in raising subcrip-
tions for its erection and obtained a grant of land from
Government., The school receives children irrespective
of their creed or caste. The building, which is in the
Italian Gothic style. measuring about 100 feet by 66
feet, consists of three floors.

Returning to the Esplanade Road and proceeding
south the Joun Connon ScHooL, is the next building to
be noticed. It was erected at the joint expense of
Government and the School Trustees, and is open for the
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figures being placed at the angles of the several basins.
The first object that is likely to attract the attention
of the sight-seer after passing the above point is the fine
range of buildings onthe right hand side of the road, at
the north of which are the attractive Fort premises of
Messrs. Treacher & Co., General Merchants. In the
line of buildings alluded to, which are all three storeys
high and have a stone frontage with a continuous arcade
below, will be found the BomBay CLUB one of the
leading Clubs of the city. This range also contains
several good shops, the upper floors being used as offices,
while at the southern end will be seen the handsome
stone building rendered conspicuous by its imposing
frontage, the roof being supported on massive columns,
in which is located the Bombay offices of the NATIONAL
Bank. On the opposite side of the roadway at the
corner of Medows Street is a fine block of buildings
occupied by Commercial firms and a few doors further
down the Paper CurreNncy OFFICE, over which a Mili-
tary guard is posted. It is of somewhat heavy design
and consists of four floors. Over the counters the
greater part of the paper currency of the Presidency is
passed, the interior of the offices being fitted up with
spacious bullion and note stamping rooms. Passing the
University Gardens on the right and the premises of
Messrs. Hoar & Co., and Thomas Cook & Son on the
left, at the corner of Fuller Road will be found the
EspraNapE HoTEL, erected in 1869 of brick and iron.
The entrance hall is embellished with a fine painted
domed roof. The billiard-room is on the ground floor,
the extensive dining-room being on the floor above.
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Adjoining the hotel
troyed by fire in 1896)
stone facade of which
set off with marble and

The next building is
INsTITUTE, which has a
alongside the other str
institute, which cost £
late Mr. David Sasso
entrance hall, and of
Above the shops on the
Reading Room and Lib
in which at stated pe
addition to thousands ot
reading, the scientific ser
largest and best collection of works on applied science
in Western India, Visitors to Bombay are allowed to
use the library on payment of Rs. 2 per month, or§
annas per week, the quarterly subscription for residents
being Rs, 6.

On the opposite side of Hope Street is the massive
Cawasjee Jehangir building in which are located the
ELpHINSTONE CoLLEGEand GOVERNMENT RECORD OFFICE
but which was originally designed to accommodate the
‘Government Central Printing Press. It wassubsequently
enlarged and is now appropriated to the use of the
Elphinstone College; and the storing of Official Records.
‘The College previous to 1856 had been amalgamated
with the Elphinstone High School, but inthe latter
year a separation took place, the institution being then
located in the building facing the Victoria Gardens at
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Byculla, now known as the Technical Institute. The -
late Sir Cawasjee Jehangir Readymoney contributed two
lakhs of rupees towards the building which cost Rs.

7,41,497. A carved medallion of the donor is placed
over the man entrance.

Tue King’s StaTtue : This fine equestrian statue,
which cost £12,500, stands in a prominent -position on
the roadway near the corner of Rampart Row. It was
designed by Boehm and presented to the city by the
late Sir Albert Sassoon to commemorate the visit of the
King (then Prince of Wales) to India in 1873-6, and
was unveiled in 1879. His Majesty who is dressed in a
Field-Marshal's uniform, is represented as seated on
horseback and holding his helmet in his right hand.
The statue, which is 12 feet 9 ins. in height, stands on
a massive granite base on the sides of which are two
well executed bronze castings—one representing the
landing at the Bombay Dockyard and the introduction
of native Chiefs, and the other the presentation made
by the children at the fefe held on the Esplanade.
The ends of the base are embellished with the royal coat-
of-arms and the motto “Ick Dien” and a shield with
a suitable inscription.

In Rampart Row are the P. & O. Company's Offices
and those of Messrs. Sassoon & Co.’s both of which have
attractive frontages. In the P. & O. Co.’s Offices the
lower floor is alloted to the Freight Department, the
Passenger Department, Waiting and Reading Room and
Superintendent Offices being on the first loor. On the
open space of ground in front of these offices it is
proposed to erect the new Cathedral.
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one having been destroyed by lightning in the year
previous.

Adjoining the church is the round building known as
the Ice House, which, in the days previous to the
establishment of ice factories, was used for the storage of
American block ice. The Grear WesTERN HoTEL,
which is well managed, was in former days the old
High Court, and contains several extensive rooms.

Facing the hotel is the main entrance gate, surmounted
by a clock tower, of the GovERNMENT DockyARD, which
covers an area of about 500,000 square yards, and was
first opened in 1735, when the East India Company
began building ships in Bombay. It has since that date
been much enlarged and enclosed, many men-of-war
having been erected on the slips since 1800, when the
Cornwallss, a 74 gun frigate of 1,363 tons, was launched,
the last vessel of this description built being the Meanee,
of 4 guns and 2,400 tons, finished in 1847. A number of
small crafts are still erected in the yard, but the principal
portion of the work done now consists of repairs to the
vessels of the Royal Navy and Royal Indian Marine on
the station. A well equipped steam factory in the yard
is capable of turning out all kinds of machine work for
the above purposes, the recently lengthened and deepen-
ed Bombay and Duncan Dry Docks, originally construct-
ed in 1736 and 1810, affording accommodation for the
examination of the hulls of the largest men of war. The
upper portion of the Duncan Dock has been converted
into a torpedo boat dock. The Wet Dock, situated bet-

ween the steam factory and Custom House, covers an area
o
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of about five acres

for the naval vessels
can accommodate

the wharfage being

At its south-west

to hold three

In the building of the
of masonry were used.
complete electric light

A few doors past
of the BomMBay
well worth visiting,
animals, though small,
The museum is
Messrs. Phipson & Co. Following the on
the right will next be seen the OpruMm Gopowns and the
GOVERNMENT CENTRAL PREss, the latter building, in
which all the Government printing is done, being easily
distinguished by its short chimney. Adjoining the
Press is the CusTom Housg, which, with its unpretentious
frontage, consists of a series of old buildings. Previous
to the British occupation they were used as a Portuguese
barracks.

In Bank Street will be found the fine premises occupied
by the BANk or BomBaY and the BaNk oF BENGAL, the
former having an extensive frontage on Green Street, and
the latter overlooking Elphinstone Circle.

Emerging out of Bank Street the visitor will enter
Elphinstone Circle, which was built on what was for-
merly called Bombay Green. The Garden was com-
pleted about the time of the visit of the Duke of
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Edinburgh, in 1872, the spacious blocks of building
surrounding the Circle containing many of the offices
of the leading mercantile firms. In the centre of the
Garden, which is well laid out, is a large fountain, to
the east of which will be found two statues, one of the
Marquis Cotnwallis and the other of the Marquis
Wellesley.

Leaving the Garden by the north gate, the next
building of note is the St. THoMAS' CATHEDRAL. The
authentic history of the Cathedral begins with the
arrival in Bombay, on St. Matthew's Day, September
21st, 1714, of that excellent and earnest, if somewhat
too impulsive and headstrong chaplain, the Rev. R.
Cobbe. Although unprovided witha church until the
end of the year 1718, the Government appears from the
first to have been fully sensible of the claims of religion
to some due observance. Chaplain or no chaplain,
services were conducted, on Sundays, in a room within
the castle walls. There are two silver chalices preserved
in the muniment chest in the Cathedral, one bearing
the date of 1632, with an inscription stating that it was
“ the gift of the Greenland Merchants of the cittie of
York, ” the other presented in 1675 by Gerald Aungier,
About the year 1684 the Directors appeared to have
first entertained the idea of the need of a church. The
suggestion was warmly taken by the authorities in
Bombay. A plan of a church was submitted for the
Court’s approval, the proposed edifice to be large enough
to hold a thousand people, in order that there might be
sufficient accommodation for natives if any cared to attend
the servicess The Company engaged to supply the
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necessary balance,
from local residents.
and Surat were
and were instructed
there might be as.
the project, after
Directorsin E

that the church migl awu
for security. A su fitty
collected, the build ‘

actually carried tot

however, were days of

little English garrison

hold its own against

constantly swooped down upon it.

new church was, no doubt, suspended

periods of storm. But when men began again to think
of completing the building, it was found that the funds
collected for this purpose had mysteriously disappeared.

The Honourable William Anislabile, Esq., General
and Governor of Bombay, etc., gave leave for the build-
ing of Bombay church June 19, 1715, and the first stone
was laid by Worshipful Stephen Strutt, Deputy Gover-
nor, November 18, 1715. The heavy and disagreeable
part of collecting subscriptions and the actual building of
the church occupied the next two and a half years. Far
and wide, throughout the whole of India then under
British rule, and even to China, went letters from the
energetic Cobbe, asking for help towards carrying out
his laudable scheme ; to Surat, Carwar, Madras, Calcutta,
Calicut, Anjengo, and Persia—not a single place where
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the Company’s merchants were located was left un-
attacked and on the whole it must be confessed that
, the requests for donations were met in a most liberal
spirit, The merchants of Surat must be counted among
the most liberal benefactors.

In addition to these applications for assistance sent to
various parts of India, a letter was written to the Honour-
able Court of Directors, in which, after thanking the
Directors for many favours such as ‘“fresh provisions
and a passage gratis, and thirty pounds advanced in
England,” Mr. Cobbe sent “ the first fruits of my labours,
a list of all christenings, weddings, and burials which
have happened here since my arrival, and a catalogue
of the books contained in the Honourable Company’s
Library.,” He then turns to the subject ever upper-

smost in his thoughts, and, after thanking the Company

for their generous donation, says: “ We hope your
Honours will be pleased to send us such useful and
necessary ornaments for our church, as cannot easily be
procured in these parts, such as a good ring of bells,
one large marble font, two branch or brass candlesticks,
and two tables in brass with the Creed, Lord’s Prayer,
and Ten Commandments engraved thereon, with two
other tables in brass, whereon to inscribe the names of
our honourable and worthy benefactors.”

At length the church was finished, and was opened on
Christmas Day, 1718, On Christmas Eve, Mr. Cobbe, the
chaplain, received the following letter from Mr. Owen
Phillipps, Secretary to Government:—*“The church being
now finished so as divine service may be decently per-
formed therein, the President has thought fit to order
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me to inform you, it

being, the nativity

at the hour of ten,

the Liturgy of the

continue the service

day of the week at

and four in the aften

through with it) exc

is not to begin till te

indeed a structure d

and beauty, neatness

for its echo; the

regular arches of st

pillars and pillasters

dome at the east end to receive tne

like that of St. Paul’s London, ascending by steps,
and a rail to separate it from the body of the church.
Its situation is very commodious, in the midst of the
inhabitants within the town wall,and at a due distance
from the Fort. As toits extent, it is larger than either
of the English churches at Madras or Bengal, or any
of the Portuguese churches here; suitable, in some
measure, to the dignity of our Royal Settlement, and big
enough for a cathedral. Thus was the ceremony of
opening Bombay church performed with all public de-
monstrations of joy, with that decency and good order, as
was suitable to the solemnity.” The church being
eventually opened on Christmas Day, 1718, an enter-
tainment being given by the Governor to the whole
town in honour of the event, and salute fired from the
Fort. In 1838 the present tower was added to the
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edifice at a cost of Rs. 16,000, the outlay on the clock
being defrayed by public subscription. Since 1865
various additions have been made, the principal being
thenew chancel and organchamber, the latter containing
the organ built by Messrs. Bishop and Starr. In the
interior of the Cathedral there is a fine monument of
the Right Rev. Thomas Carr, the first Bishop of
Bombay, who died in 1859, and a large number of
handsome monuments and tablets, the inscriptions on
which will well repay the trouble of perusal.

The most prominent memorials are in memory of
the following persons :—

CHARLES JAMES MANsoON, of the Bombay Civil Service,
assassinated at Sooribund on the 29th May, 1858,
while trying to suppress an intended insurrection of
Mahratta Chiefs.

JonaTHAN DuNcan, Governor of Bombay from 1795
to 1811, Infanticide was abolished in Benares and
Kathiawad doing his tenure of office.

Major ELDRED POTTINGER, of the Bombay Artillery,
whose successful defence of Herat, his gallant bearing
and judicious counsel throughout the eventful period
of the British reverses in Afghanistan, are recorded inthe
annals of his country. Compelled by long continued
exertion, anxiety, and fatigue in the discharge of his

. public duty, to seek a change of climate for the recovery
of his health; Major Pottinger was returning to England,
via China, when he was attacked by malignant fever at
Hong-Kong, where he died on the 15th of November
1843, aged 32 years.
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Brigape-Major W. C. HARRISON, who was saved by
three sepoys at the battle of Maiwand, and afterwards
recovered from typhoid fever at Kandahar, but who
when engaged in . re-organising his regiment (Jacob’s
Rifles), was again attacked with fever and died at
Venice on 12th January, 1882,

JouN WartsoN, Superintendent of the Presidency
Marine and Commander-in-Chief of the Naval Forces,
employed in the reduction of Salsette in 1774.

CapTaIN E. M. Ennis, of the 21st N. I, who was
barbarously put to death between Sukkur and Hydera-
bad on the 18th February, 1843.

CapTaIN GroRGE NicHoLAs HARrDINGE, R.N., who
commanded the San Furenzo of 36 guns and 186 men
and chased and brought into action, upon three succes-









Church QGate Street. 41

sive days, the French frigate La Predmontaise which
vessel carried 50 guns and 566 men, bore a high charac-
ter, and was the terror of the Indian Seas. Nobly
supported by his officers and crew, he achieved a most
brilliant conquest, but fell with glory on the last and
critical period of this heroic enterprise, upon the 18th
of March, 1808, and in the 28th year of his age. His
ardent perseverance and skill in these actions were so
extraordinary, that by unanimous votes, the House of
Commons raised a monument in St. Paul’'s Cathedral,
to his memory.

“ CLEOPATRA ” MEMORIAL, erected in memory of
Commander Young and 150 officers and crew of the
East India Company’s steam frigate Cleopatra, which
foundered off the Malabar Coast in April, 1847.

In addition to the above, the memorials to the follow-
ing personages deserve mention :— Samuel John Croft
Falconer ; Alexander Cunine Peal; Thomas Mostyn ;
Admiral Maitland ; Lieut.-Col. John Nugent; Captain
George Warden ; Major-General John Bellasis ; Lieut.
Col. C. B. Burr; Captain F, McGillivray ; and John
Fraser Heddle. A

Services are held on Sunday, at 7-30 A.M. and 6 P.M.

The Cathedral stands at the entrance to Church Gate
Street which half a century ago was not the busy and
crowded thoroughfare of to-day. Yet it was regarded
as a fashionable road, with the substantial houses of
wealthy Parsees on either side. So far as the width of
the street is concerned, it is just as broad as it was in
the old days, and many of the houses there are also in
much the same state.
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cate with the public authorities, with similar Associations
in other places, and with individuals on all subjects of
general mercantile interests ; and to arbitrate between
parties to refer to, and abide by, the judgment of the
Chamber.

Proceeding round the left side of the Circle gardens
on the east will be observed the Town HaLr. The
suggestion to build a Town Hall was first made about
eighty years ago, the work on the present building
being commenced in 1821, and completed some twelve
years afterwards at a cost of about five lakhs of rupees,
partly received from the proceeds of lotteries and funds
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granted by the Directors of the East India Com-
pany. The building consists of a basement (in which is
situated the office of the Surgeon-General, the District
Staff Office, where Military Officers report their arrival
and departure from Bombay), and an upper storey, and
is about 260 feet long by 100 feet wide. The large
hall contains a fine organ, costing about £ 3,000,
given by Sir Albert Sassoon to commemorate the
visit of the Duke of Edinburgh in 1872. The hall,
which is frequently used for public meetings, concerts,
and balls, also contains a statue of Mountstuart Elph-
instone, Governor of Bombay from 1819 to 1827. A
statue of Sir Charles Forbes is placed in the south vesti-
bule and in the north vestibule are the statues of the
following persons—Mr. Stephen Babington, Sir J.
Malcolm, Mr. C. Norris, Lord Elphinstone, Sir Jam-
setiee Jeejeebhoy, ‘Sir Bartle Frere, and the Hon.
Jugonath Sunkersett. The library and museums of the
Bombay Branch of the Royal Asiatic, Society is located
at the north end of the central hall, the Durbar Room,
so called on account of its being used for State purposes
previous to the completion of the Secretariat, being
situated at the south-east corner of the hall, on the west
side of which there is a handsome portico approached by
a massive flight of stone steps from the Elphinstone
Circle Gardens.

The CASTLE AND ARSENAL are immediately in rear
of the hall. Bombay Castle is now all that remains to
remind the visitor of the old fortifications. The build-
ing is well worth a visit, though permission to enter has
to be obtained from the Military authorities. Inside the













The Mint. 45

in great iron furnaces. This melting room is an inter-
esting sight, with its glowing furnaces, its powerful
machinery, its crowd of bronzed figures running hither
and thither, all busily engaged in the fierce heat, in
their arduous task of transforming the white bars of
glistening silver and bags of copper, into streams of
transparent molten metal. When the melting is com-
plete, the crucible is lifted out by a chain, champ, and
pulley, and swung through the air to a line of rail, on
which run the oiled moulds. These moulds are of iron
and one side opens out. The crucible is then tilted
over by machinery, and its contents poured into the
moulds. The bars on being removed from the mould
are placed to cool in a large tank of water, which hisses
like a witch’s cauldron when it receives its gleaming
treasure. The ends of the bars, which are generally
irregular, are then cut off by a powerful machine. The
bars are then stored until the following day, when the
assay report states whether they are correct or not.
After being pronounced correct, the bars are removed to
the Rolling Room where after passing through the
rolling presses, they are taken to the Punching Room.
This room contains rows of automatic machines which
punch blank discs the size of a rupee out of the rolled
straps with marvellous rapidity. The blank discs are
taken to the Weighing Room, which is one of the most
interesting rooms in the Mint. The Napier weighing
machines used here are of the most delicate and perfect
make, each of the 68 machines costs £ 300 and can weigh
23 rupees per minute, thus making a total of Rs. 5,00,000
in a day of six hours. The correct discs are taken
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of the Mint compound, but before doing
well to inspect the THE RUTToNSEY
at the junction of the Frere Road. It is oriental in
design, consisting of a lower basin and drinking trough
for animals, and was erected at the expense of Mr,
Ruttonsey Mooljee, a wealthy Bhatia merchant, in
memory of his only son, a lad of about fifteen years of
age. The dome of the fountain is crowned by a statue
of the deceased.

THE PorT TRUST ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICES, which are
at the end of Ballard Road, are built of blue basalt with
Coorla stone facings, and consist of two wings standing -
at right angles to each other, surmounted with a massive
look-out tower at the corner between the wings, one of
which faces the harbour. The building consists of four
storeys, inclusive of the ground floor, and is 72 feet high,
while the tower runs up 38 feet above the general build-
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ing, which measures 148 feet on one wing, and 123 feet
on the other, with a mean width of 60 and 50 feet, respec-
tively, and a verandah 10 feet wide all around. On the
ground floor are situated the Record-rooms of the vari-
ous departments, the printing offices, and the engineer’s
plant and instrument rooms, with a strong-room and
store-rooms for the Port Officer’s and Light-house
departments. The whole of the first floor is utilised by
the Port Officer’s department and general correspon-
dence offices, A portion of the western or larger wing
of the second floor is appropriated to the use of the
board and chairman’s room, the rest being occupied by
private rooms for the secretary and his assistants, corres-
pondence, cash, and book-keeping offices. On the top
floor are located the engineering offices. At the main
entrance, which abuts on to Ballard Road, there is
a large hall leading to a fine circular staircase ascend-
ing to the top flat. The compound, which measures
300 by 125 feet, extends from Ballard Road on one side
to Cochin Street on the other ; contains a coach-house
and stable, and quarters for lascars, the remaining por-
tion of the ground being neatly laid out as a gardens
Over the main entrance there is a handsome facade
with a beautiful das-relief hewn in stone representing
the Port Trust seal, supported on either side with
nautical symbols. Running out into the harbour from
the east of the above building, is the BaLLArRD Pikr,
where passengers by the outward mail steamers are landed,
and their baggage examined by the Customs officials.

Proceeding northward along the harbour frontage the
fine block of buildings in which are offices of the BriTIisn
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sick, several plans were submitted to them, but for one
reason or another, none were approved until the end of
1863. In that year plans and estimates were sanctioned
for a new hospital, and in May, 1864, the foundations
of that hospital were actually put in, and had risen
visibly above the surface when the operations of build-
ing suddenly ceased. It was then supposed that there
was some difference of opinion between the Government
of India and the local Government. The former did
not approve of the plans of the building because they
thought that it was not good enough for Bombay, and
therefore the building operations came to a standstill,
and those foundations, which cost nearly a lakh of
rupees, now lie buried and forgotten under the ground in
in front of the present Bombay Gymkhana. Eventually
the present building was erected. The facade is of
blue stone, which is considerably relieved by the terra-
cotta projections above the windows, the building being
erected on what are technically called arched basements,
in accordance with the latest dictates of sanitary science,
in order to keep off the damp, while all the floors are
ventilated by earthenware pipe shafts passed through
the walls.

The new hospital provides for a hundred beds.
The building cost about Rs. 4,%9,000; the cost of
the entire hospital and out-buildings being nearly
Rs. 9,00,000. There are in all three floors, the arrange-
ments on each of which are most thorough in every
way. The entrance is under a stately porch, and on
arriving at the top of the entrance steps one finds
himself in a spacious hall paved with Minton tiles, the

D
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is a pretty little chapel for the use of the patients. Next
to the chapel is the physician’s room, and on the same
floor are a dining-room, two nurses’ rooms, and two
wards accommodating 14 patients each. There is a special
ward on the same floor which contains only one bed.
There are again the operating-room, which is lighted
by means of sky-lights, and the dark-room for ophthal-
mic examinations., On the second floor, which"
commands an excellent view of the eastern harbour, are
the physician’s office, a dining-room, a reading-room, a
nurse’s room, and two special wards in each wing, in
addition to two wards containing 14 beds each. The top
floor has the advantage of the other floor in that it has
in addition to its fine corridors, an extensive terrace
commanding a grand view of the greater part of the
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city. A lift is provided for carrying the patients on to
the first and second floors.

The hospital stands on an extensive plot of ground
which through the liberality of Government has been
tastefully laid out as a garden on the western side
of which are the quarters of the Lady Superintendent
and nurses and a detached bungalow which has been
provided for the House Surgeon, the buildings having
been constructed in a style quite in keeping with that of
the new hospital. In the hospital there are 38 free beds,
while in the other wards the charges are as follows :—
Nos. 3 and 4 wards, 28 beds, Re. 1; No. 2 ward, 14 beds,
Rs. 2 ; and No. 1 ward, 14 beds, Rs, 3 per day ; while
in addition there are five private rooms for which the
charge is Rs, 10 per diem.

A new block of buildings for a women'’s hospital is be-
ing erected to the north at a cost of five lakhs of rupees.
The style of architecture will harmonise with the men’s
wards, and the two secti ons will be joined by an arched
corridor over the roadway, so that the hospital, when
finished will present a most imposing appearance. In
connection with the hospital a Convalescent Home has
been opened at Khandalla, 78 miles from Bombay,
consisting of wards for either sex, the charges for beds
in the wards being Rs. 2 and Rs. 3 per day, or for a
private room Rs. 5. Though primarily intended for
patients from the St. George's Hospital, accommodation
is generally available in the Home for convalescents
from all parts. of India. Applications for admission
should be made to the Physician in charge of the St.
George’s Hospital.
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accommodation for passenger traffic. Under.
roofs are located the necessary waiting and refresh-
ment-rooms and a handsome booking-hall, with tesse-
lated pavement, the walls and roof being decorated in
blue. and gold, and the roof -and entrance doorway
supported on graceful marble pillars. This hall is- well
worth a visit, as is also the main staircase of the
Administrative Office building. The latter building
forms three sides of a square enclosing an ornamentat
garden, the entrance gates of which are surmounted
by a massive lion and tiger carved in stone. The offices
consist of a ground and ‘two upper floors, the most
prominent feature of the building being the high tower
rising over the centre portion and which is surmounted
by a large figure of * Progress.” There is a fine statue
of the Queen-Empress placed in front of the building
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below the clock. Passengers proceeding from this
station by train should drive up to the entrances on the
Hornby Road side.

THE MunicipaL OrriceEs were opened in 1893, the
corner stone having been laid by Lord Ripon, a former
Viceroy of India. The late Mr. F. W. Stevens, the
architect of the Railway Terminus, has designed the
offices in keeping with the handsome structures by
which they are surrounded, and has based his ideas on
the early Gothic style of architecture, treating it with
an Oriental feeling, as exemplified by the many domes
that are to be seen rising above the gabled roofs of the
building. The imposing facade, with its massive and
lofty tower, surmounted with a dome, is flanked by two
wings of the building which abut on the Hornby and
Cruickshank Roads. The building does not at first
appear to be so large as it really is, but on a closer
inspection, the dimensions of the respective wings, each
of which consists of a ground and two upper floors, stand
out in greater prominence, and the tower, which rises
to a height of some two hundred and thirty-five feet
from the ground, looks very imposing. The carving
which has been so artistically placed around the outside
of the new offices stands out most prominently, especi-
ally the figures of the winged Venetian lions over the
entrance porches, and the arms of the Corporation, the
reproduction of the latter placed over the main facade
being in itself an undoubted work of art reflecting credit
on the native artisans whose labours have done so much
to beautify the exterior of the building. The site of the
edifice may be described as resembling the letter V with
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west extremity of the Cruickshank Road wing, and
on it the artchitect has evidently bestowed much care.
It is approached from the wide and handsome corridors
hrough large and beautifully moulded doorways, whose
apitals are richly carved and filled in overhead with
oloured glass. At the northern end of the room is a
large ornamental bay window filled with stained glass,
having introduced therein the arms of the Corporation,
the window being flanked on either side by stone
canopied recesses. Glancing around, the spectator can-
not but be struck with the light and airy appearance of
the hall, despite its massive and impressive interior, it
being open on the western, northern and eastern sides,
and being well ventilated, by means of openings iff the
upper stained glass windows that are placed at regular
intervals in the walls. These windows are set in arches,
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having handsome marble column supports, richly carved
‘and decorated, while the ceiling, which is of unpolished
teak, is panelled and richly moulded and picked out
with gilt lines after a somewhat oriental design, and is
supported on corbels the subjects of which are different
castes of natives of India, each bearing a shield, on
which is placed some device forming a portion of the
Municipal arms or monogram.

There are two overhead galleries for the general
public, approached by separate staircases. The form or
the Council Chamber has, it is understood, been designed
in accordance with well-known examples, in order to
ensure the best acoustic results, while the seats and table
for the accommodation of the members of the Corpora-
tion have been arranged in a manner to suit the require-
ments of the Councillors. The hall is illuminated by
electric light, which is suspended overhead in three
handsome wrought brass electroliers of exquisite design,
each containing thirteen lights of 1,500 candle-power,
or 4,500 candle-power in all.
¢ Proceeding northward along the Hornby Road past
the Terminus and the Municipal Offices, the imposing
“TiMes oF INpiA” BuiLping will be next noticed, in
which is printed the leading local daily newspaper.
Flanking one side of the main entrance to the building
is a tablet bearing the following inscription: “1838—
1901. This Stone was laid in the First Year of the
Twentieth Century, being the Sixty-Third Year of
Pub¥ication of the *“ Times of India.”” The building is
designed in the Indo-Gothic style, and presents a striking
appearance, the road frontage being embellished with
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school, besides Rs. 50,000 which was set apart as endow-
ments for the institution. The Government granted a free
site, and also promised to contribute Rs. 38,000 towards
the construction of the school-house, the foundation-stone
of which was laid by Lord Reay on the 31st March,
189o. The building is in the Sarascenic style, the
modern requirements for the construction of a school,
and the harmonising of it with the several public build-
ings surrounding it being borne in mind. The school
has three turrets, surmounted with domes of Porebunder
stone, two of them being erected at the southern, and
one at the northern facade of the structure. The tower
is 125 feet high, and is capped with a dome having a
circumference of 16 feet. The facade of the building,
as also the tympanums and drums of the domes, the lower
frieze and the arched wings of the several windows, are
ornamented with coloured tiles. The general facing
is of dressed blue stone, the several columns and the
arches being made of Porebunder and yellow Coorla
stones, relieved in places by red Hemnugger stone. The
capitals of the front columns bear carvings of various
pretty designs. Over the windows are placed stones
carved in various geometrical designs. On the ground
floor are four large and two small class-rooms, there
being also apparatus, library and masters’ rooms. On
the first floor there are four class-rooms and a large
hall measuring 63 feet long and 37 feet wide, with a
gallery above it. The second floor has four class-rooms,
which are very lofty and airy. There is nolack of ventila-
tion in the school, which has spacious verandahs on
either side of it. The school was opened by Lord
Harris, on the 27th day of February, 1893.
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manufactured by local artisans. In the same grounds,
but somewhat further north, will be seen the ScHooL or
ART or to give it its full title, the Sir Jamsetjee Jeejeebhoy
School of Art, which wasopened in 1857. The building is
275 feet in length, and contains four general class-rooms.
The students are instructed in engraving wood, decora-
tive painting, architectural sculpture, ornamental sculp-
ture, and kindred crafts. The Lord Reay Art Work-
shops are situated in the grounds of the above building,
and are well worth a visit. Within the main building is a
small collection of paintings, destined eventually, it is
hoped, to form the nucleus of a Picture Gallery worthy
of the city.



Police Headquarters. 59

The PoLiCE HEAD-QUARTERS are to be found in the
Jarge and handsome building at the corner of the Hornby.
and Carnac Roads. Itis in the domestic Gothic style
of architecture and consists of a ground and two upper
floors. The police premises, occupying as they do a
commanding position, have been designed in a manner
that makes them rank among the best in the city, the
yellow Coorla stone, which has been largely used in
construction, being relieved by the interpositions of
wooden beams and cross stays, the upper portions ot
the structure being decidedly Elizabethan. The general
_outline is broken by various projections in the form of
the building, the main gable roof being surmounted
with a turret some forty feet in height. The sky line
is also relieved by other suitable designed terminals of
a staircase tower, the one at the east corner having an
octagonal dome surmounting it. The Offices of the
Commissioner and Deputy Commissioner of Police are
on the first floor, the officer in charge of the Con-
veyance and the Criminal Investigation Department
Offices being on the ground floor. The upper storey is
divided into residential quarters for European police
officers, while to the rear of the extensive grounds are
separate quarters for 120 Native Police Sepoys, and’
stables and quarters for 20 Mounted Sowars.

At the opposite corner of the Hornby Road, and
occupying the triangular piece of land between that
thoroughfare and the Carnac and Pultan Roads, are
the CrawrorRD MARKETS. The main building is set
apart for the sale of fruit and vegetables, and consists
of a central hall with three main entrances. It is sur-
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Besides the endless crowds of indigenous Hindoo,
Guzerati, and Maharatta people—coming and going,
some in bright dresses, but mostly next to none at all,
between the rows of grotesquely-painted houses there
are to be studied specimens of every nation of the East-
Arabs from Muscat, Persians from the Gulf, Afghans
from the Northern frontier, shaggy black Belooches,
negroes of Zanzibar, islanders from the Maldives and
Laccadives, Malagashes, Malays and Chinese throng
and jostle with Parsees, Jews, Rajputs, Fakirs, Portu-
guese, Sepoys, and Sahebs.

Allowing that the stranger has paid a brief visit to
the above locality and afterwards returned to the Carnac
Road, he will, on proceeding westwards along the latter
thoroughfare, find on his right the VOoLUNTEER RIFLES
HEeADQUARTERS, formerly the old Shipping Office, and a
little beyond the SMaLL Causes CouRrTs, the latter being
located in a range of very old and unsuitable buildings.
On the opposite side of the thoroughfare will be seen
a range of attractive edifices, the first approached after
passing the compound of the Police Headquarters being
the GocuLpass TespaL HosprraL, completed in 1874.
This hospital is set apart for the exclusive use of natives.
It cost Rs, 3,67,465, towards which sum the late Mr. Rus-
tomjee Jamsetji Jeejeebhoy and Mr.Goculdass Tejpal each
contributed £ 15,000.The site for the building was given
by Government. The institution, which has accommo-
dation for about 150 patients, being supported by the
Municipality. THeE Harris MEMoRIAL ScHooL is the
next building to be passed, after which will be noticed
the St. Xavier's CoLLEGE which stands in the ad
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by the massive flight of stone steps leading to the main
entrance gates. The School was founded originally in
1822 under the name of the Native Education Society's
School. Sir Albert Sassoon contributed one-and-a-half
lakhs of rupees towards the erection of the building,
which is 452 feet in length. It contains nearly thirty
class-rooms ; the spacious central hall on the first floor
measuring 65 by 35 feet, and is surrounded by a gallery.
A covered-in play-ground runs under the central por-
tion of the school.

In rear of the School is the Dinshaw Petit Gymnasium.
The pavilion and grounds of which are well provided
with all the necessary appliances for developing the
physique of the pupils. Passing the St. Xavier’s
School, already briefly alluded to on page 65, the
next building of interest will be found to be the Cama
HospitaL, which excellently managed institution was
opened on 3oth July, 1886, and bears the name of Mr.
Pestonjee Hormusjee Cama, a wealthy Parsee inhabitant,
who contributed Rs. 1,64,311 towards its erection. It
contains 6o beds, and is intended for the sole use of
women and young children of all castes and denomi-
nations.

In the same compound will be found a smaller build-
ing known as the ALLeLEss OBsTETRIC HospITAL, 2djoin-
ing which are the EspLaNaDE PoLicE Courts. The
Courts were erected from the designs of Mr. John Adams.
The work was commenced on the 3rd December, 1884,
and completed on the 31st December, 1888, the building,
which cost Rs. 3,73,694, being opened for business in
May, 1889. It has a frontage of about 300 feet, and is
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the main one of which is protected by a porch. The
interior of the building is furnished throughout in teak-
wood ; the seating accommodation being well arranged,
and a handsome pulpit of the same material forming a
conspicuous object at the south-east end of the building,
A commodious vestry adjoins the church.

Passing the church and turning to the left on the right
hand will be noticed the Novelty Theatre and on the
left the Masonic HaLL ; the foundation stone of which
was laid by Lord Sandhurst on the sth June, 1897.
The main hall, 60 feet by 30 feet, and 27 feet high,
is on the first floor; the banqueting hall below being
of the same dimensions. Rooms are provided in the
building for the holding of chapters, and a dining-
hall in close proximity to the banqueting hall. The
construction of the building and furniture cost nearly
one-and-a-half lakhs. Adjoining the hall are the Elphin-
stone Cricket Club and Fort Dispensary buildings.

Turning into the Hornby Roud and proceeding south,
on the left will be observed the Jamsetjee Jeejeebhoy
Institute, a lofty building of four floors, with an arcade
extending over the footpath.

The zig-zag manner in which the old houses on this
side of the thoroughfare are built, and appear in some
cases to have been almost dovetailed into one another, is
due to the fact that they followed the various lines of the
city ramparts which they formerly overlooked. Since
the latter were razed to the ground, and Hornby Road
formed directly over the foundations, several of the older
houses have either been rebuilt or had their frontages
brought forward. The Fort Fire Brigade Station and
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King & Co., the ¢

Messrs. Macmillan & vo., Kaja Deen Messrs.
Whiteway, Laidlaw & Co., The Japan Bank, and
Messrs. John Roberts & Co., the latter firm having
their show rooms on the ground floor of the ForT
REeADING RooM AND LIBRARY, one of the most tastefully
-designed buildings on this thoroughfare.

A short distance down Outram Road, athoroughfare on
the right of Hornby Road will be found the building
of the CaTrEDRAL HiGH ScHooL for boys, opened in 1896.
It appears that the school for boys has been the outcome
of more than one educational effort, its early history
being closely connected with that of the Bombay Dioce-
san Education Society’s High School in Love-Lane,
Byculla, and the Cathedral Choir School in the Fort.
These two Schools were amalgamated in 1878 under the
name of the Cathedral High School. It was in March,



Cathedral High Schools. 67

1878, that an application was made to Government for a
site on the Esplanade for the proposed school buildings,
which was granted at the junction of the Hornby and
Esplanade Roads. The block of buildings now occupied
by the Oriental Life Assurance Company was erected
there from funds obtained from Government, the
S. P. C. K., and various other sources, the amount of
cost aggregatingover two lakhs of rupees. Soon after the
building had been occupied, it was found that it was un-
suitable for a school in many ways, and a resolution
was passed by the governing body in September, 1886,
appointing a sub-committee to enquire whether there
is any other site to which the school could be moved
with advantage, and whether Government would con-
sent to facilitate the transfer, The resolution was for-
warded to Government in October, 1886, but the matter
was not finally disposed of until May, 1889, when
sanction was given to the transfer on certain conditions,
and the original building having been sold, with the
proceeds of the sale the present building was erected.
The management of the school is vested in a governing
body constituted as follows:—President—The Lord
Bishop of the Diocese ; Vice President—The Ven’ble
the Archdeacon of Bombay and Senior Presidency
Chaplain ; the Garrison Chaplain ; the Chaplain of
Byculla ; the Chaplain of Colaba ; three Lay Communi-
cants of the Church of England, nominated by the
Trustees of the Cathedral ; three Lay Communicants of
the Church of England, nominated by the Diocesan
Board, and additional members nominated by the
governing body.
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office and library with quarters for the headmaster.

the second floor there are two dormitories, one 44’ by
25’ and the other 76’ 6" by 25', affording accommodation
for 44 beds. There are also provided two bed-rooms for
masters and a room for the matron.

Almost facing the Schools will be seen the Gym-
KHANA RacorET CourT, which is located in a stone build-
ing with high walls. Opposite the school is the recently-
opened LviNG-IN HospPITAL FOR PARsEES, easily recog-
nised by its exterior being mainly constructed of blue
coloured bricks.

Tue CATHEDRAL GIRLS' ScHool is located on Napier
Road, near Messrs. Whiteway and Laidlaw’s establish-
ment, in a substantial and well designed modern build-
ing, which externally presents many attractive features.
The visitor having now been again escorted to the
Floral Fountain, his tour round the Esplanade and Fort
may be appropriately brought to a conclusion, '









Colaba.

HE stranger wishing to visit Colaba and the
&T@ southern portion of the island should again
select the Wellington Fountain as his starting
point, and having passed the Apollo Hotel, and proceed-
ing along Colaba Causeway, he will see on his right the
WesLevyaN METHODIST CHURCH, a well designed edifice
with a lofty spire, the foundation stone of which was
laid by Lord Reay.

On the same side of the road are the Tramway Com-
pany’s Car Sheds and Offices, The Bombay Tramway
‘Company has its head offices in New York, but the
local depots are not only architecturally attractive, but
are built on the most approved plans, and provide
accommodation for a large number of horses for the
-double and single horse cars running on the Company’s
lines. Attached to the stables are extensive car erecting
and repairing shops, there being other large car sheds
and stables on the Parel and Falkland Roads. The
Company, which practically commenced working in
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use of the general body of merchants and buyers and all
connected with the trade, leading from which is a long
apartment 60 by 4o feet, which is divided into six offices,
for the use of firms engaged in the cotton business. There
is a large Exchange room above, which measures some 9o
by 4o feet, and which is provided with counters and racks
for the exhibition and sale or purchase of cotton, while
other facilities are also offered to the members of the
Association for the transaction of business. The other
Exchange consists of lower and upper floor, with a tower
at the south-west corner, and has been erected princi-
pally of stone and blue brick. On the lower floor are
the Exchange room and eight separate rooms for firms,
while on the floor above is the cotton sale-room.
The latter Exchange was principally built by natives
interested in the cotton trade.

To the south of Arthur Bunder are to be seen the tall
chimneys and high buildings of several of the local
Cotton Mills and Presses.

Still continuing his journey southward the visitor will
next pass the GUN CArRIAGE FAcCToRY, where large num-
bers of native artisans are employed under European
supervision, the several shops in the yard being
provided with a variety of machines for building all
classes of gun transport and other military carriages and
wagons. The Factory is connected by a siding with the
B. B. & C. I. Railway, the latter Company having a
basin and jetty at this point for the landing of stores
received from Europe. Proceeding past the range of
cotton godowns on the left of the road will be seen the
Clock Tower over the entrance gates to the SassooN
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1838-43. The names of the officers are inscribed on
tablets in the chancel. Special memorials to the officers
who died during the late Afghan War were also erected
in 1882. The altar wall has been decorated with tile
mosaic by the 19th Regt. N. I, in memory of three of
their officers ; a reredos has been erected by the friends
of twelve officers of various corps ; the altar has been
given in memory of two officers ; and a rich marble
pavement in memory of those who were Brethren of the
Guild of the Holy Standard. The General Memorial of
all the officers, non-commissioned officers, and men of
the Bombay Army was erected over the principal
entrance during 1383. The colours of the old 24th N.I.
are preserved in the building.

Continuing his journey along the roadway leading
past the church, the visitor will then find himself within
the area set apart for the barracks of the European
troops in garrison, which comprise three companies of
artillery and a regiment of infantry. The artillery are
quartered to the left and the infantry to the right of the
main road. T he barracks are some of the best to be
foundin thecountry, and are spacious and well ventilated,
The StaTioN HospiTaL is to the left of the road and
nearly opposite the Parade Ground, on the Back Bay
side of which are the rifle ranges. At the south-west
corner of the Parade Ground is the Artillery Officer’s
Mess, and at the south-east corner a small Roman Catho-
lic Chapel for the troops. In the grounds opposite the
Chapel is a well furnished gymnasium, for the use
of the troops.

A few yards further on is the entrance to the OBSER-
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buildings erected by the military authorities for the
European Staff of the Ordnance Department.

At this point a considerable area of Back Bay has been
reclaimed by the City Improvement Trust, to provide
sites for future buildings.

- The next building possessing architectural interest is
the CoLaBa StaTION of the B. B. & C. I. Railway, which
occupies a commanding site. It is extremely well
designed, and has at its southern end a stone facade and
carriage porch. Entering the station, the traveller will
find waiting rooms, an open ticket counter, and all the
other necessary offices of the station staff conveniently
placed. Inside the building are three broad platforms,
each some five hundred feet in length, alongside which
five lines of metals have been laid, which prove ample
for the traffic at the station. The lofty roof has been
painted in delicate colours, a feature of the building
being that the principal columns and a good deal of the
other iron-work have been formed out of old rails. At
the south-west corner of the station, opened in 1896, is
situated a high tower with a pointed tiled roof.

Following the roadway over the Wodehouse Bridge,
constructed in 1875, the mnew Roman CaTHoLIC
CATHEDRAL will be seen. It has been well designed by
Mr. W. A. Chambers and its interior is elaborately
decorated with paintings. The facade of the building
is surmounted by two lofty towers, and is flanked on
either side by the residence of the Bishop and the
Convent School. The Elphinstone College Students’
quarters will be found located in rear of the above
buildings, and a few hundred yards further north the
stranger will again arrive at the Wellington Fountain,
and so bring his second tour to a close.
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Road a high wall will be noticed that encloses the Hindu
Burning and the Mahomedan Burial Grounds.

Further along will be seen the SoNAPORE CEMETERY
used for Christian burial up till 1867 when the present
cemetery at Sewree was opened. The Sonapore buriat
ground is now separated from the roadway by a low
wall surmounted by an ornamental railing. Among
those buried there are Major-General V. Kennedy,
President of the Royal Asiatic Society, who died in
1846 ; and Colonel Ford, who commanded a brigade
at the battle of Kirkee. The large bungalow at the
corner of the Thakurdwar Road is used as a Fire Tem-
ple by the Parsees. Passing the Charni Road Garden
and the Railway Station on the left, and the Adamjee
Peerbhoy Dhuramsala, the latter a long range of two
storey buildings, on the right, the visitor will find a
short distance up Charni Road the ALLBLESs BagH,
the principal place for the celebration of marriages
among Parsees, and which, on the occasion of the
nuptials of wealthy Zoroastrians, is brilliantly illumi-
nated,

Crossing the railway lines and still following the road-
way round the Bay, after passing a range of attractive

" residences on the right, the visitor will then reach the
WiLson CoLLEGE. The institution arose out of an Eng-
lish school for native youths founded by the late Rev.
Dr. Wilson in 1832, and was originally dependant on local
contributions. It was afterwards recognised in 1835 by
the Church of Scotland, and in 1843 by the Free Church
of Scotland, from which body it receives the greater part
of its funds. In addition to the College Division affiliated.







The Hanging Gardens. 79

residents of the City. Many of the bungalows are well
designed, and situated in tastefully laid out grounds,
which command fine views over the surrounding coun-
try. About 100 yards past the corner of Mount Pleasant
and Nepean Roads, the visitor will come to the LabpiEs’
‘GYMKHANA, which has a large membership, a spacious
pavilion, and occupies ground on either side of the road,
in which Tennis Courts are laid out. Adjoining the
Gymkhana is a Post Office, in rear of which will be
found ALt SaINTS' CHURCH,

The next objects of interest to be noticed are the
HanGiNG GarDeNs and the Resevoir. The latter is on
the left of the Ridge, and is surrounded by pleasant walks
and flower beds. The Hanging Gardens on the east
side of the road are well laid out, the red earth pathways
receding down the face of the hill. From the Gardens
a splendid view can be obtained over the island, Chow-
patty lying at the foot of the hill in the midst of cocoa-
nut trees, while the Fort and Colaba can be seen to the
right, and Mazagon, the Mills of Parel and Mahaluxmi
noticed stretching away to the north-east.

Leaving the gardens, one of the most delightful spots
in Bombay, and descending the Gibbs Road, a stone
viaduct will be crossed, under which pass the flight of
steps leading to the gates of the enclosure in which are
built the Towers or SiLence. The Towers, five in
number, can be reached either by way of the steps
from the Gibbs Road or by the private road constructed
by the late Sir Jamsetjee Jeejeebhoy, Bart., which
leads from the Gowalia Tank Road. Strangers are not
allowed to enter the grounds unless provided with a



















Byculla and (Ddasagon.

AVING become acquainted with the principal
objects of interest to the south and west of the
island, the stranger for his fourth journey can-

not do better than elect to make a tour through the Byculla
and Mazagon districts. In doing so he should proceed
to the Money School by way of the Esplanade Road.
Thence traversing the Kalbadevie Road and passing
a large Hindoo Temple on his right, at the corner
of Bhuleshwar road will be seen the Municipal Markets
and School buildings which consist of a ground floor
and two upper storeys. The market occupies the whole
of the ground floor. It consists of 170 stalls exclusively
set apart for the sale of fruit and vegetables. The
school rooms on the upper floors form three sides of a
rectangle.

Arriving at Pydownie after a journey through a
densely populated thoroughfare, he will pass several
Hindoo Temples, the Coppersmiths’ Bazaar, the Momba-
davie Temple and Tank, and the Goldsmiths’ Bazaar,
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for whose accommodation there are over 300 beds,
Further along the road is the entrance to two more
charitable institutions, namely, the Bar MotLaBAr Hos-
PITAL and the Sik DinsHAw MaNocksee PeTiTr Hospl-
TAL. The former, is an Obstetric Hospital, of which
the foundation stone was laid by Lord Reay on the
oth March, 1889. The building is 163 feet in length
by 48 feet in breadth. On either side of the
entrance hall stretch verandahs, doors from which lead
into four wards, affording accommodation for ten beds.
At the north end is an operating room. In the rear are
nurses’ quarters. The first floor is similarly planned,
there being four wards capable of holding ten beds,
making a total accommodation for twenty patients in the
whole Hospital. The foundation-stone of the Sir
DinsHAw MaNockJEE PeTIT HospiTAL for women and
children was laid by Lord Reay on the 27th January,
1890. The building is 127 feet in length by 48 feet in
width,

On again returning to the Parel Road and following
that thoroughfare northwards the JEwisH SYNAGOGUE will
be passed on the left, opposite which, at the corner of
Nesbit Road, is the G. L. P. Railway infirmary. A short
distance down Nesbit Road is the ST. Marv’s CoOLLEGE.
The school and college is conducted by Roman
Catholic priests. The Institution consists of two large
buildings : the Boarding School, a three storied house
(22 X 4o feet), and a two-storied School-house (260 X
32 feet). There are two well ventilated dormitories
{160 x 40 and 156 + 32), two large study-rooms, two
dining-rooms, two libraries and a spacious lavatory.
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similar number of girls, were erected at a cost of Rs.
1,71,238. Day scholars are received in addition. The
children belong to two distinct classes—orphans who
are entirely supported by the funds of the Society, and
orphans belonging to the * Military Asylum,” the cost of
whose support is defrayed by Government. There is a
Printing Press in’connection with the Society, the profits
from which may be said to be the mainstay of the school,
which nevertheless is greatly dependent on the charitable
public for its support, In the same compound is CHRIST
CHurcH, a commodious and well designed place of wor-
ship.

On the foot of Byculla bridge and at the corner of
Sankli Street is the head office and station of the Munici-
pal Fire Brigade.

In the Clare Road which joins the Parel Road at this
point will be found the St. ELizaBeTH's HoME. The
institution is intended for European widows and respect-
able ladies in need of a home, they being admitted as
boarders. There is a school for girls and children con-
nected with the institution, which is admirably managed
by the nuns of Jesus and Mary. The House oF Cor-
rREcTION and Government Workhouse are also situated
on the east side of the latter road.

The Bycurra CrLuB house founded in 1833, is situated
in spacious grounds on Bellasis Road and is the most
influential of the many clubs in the city.

Immediately after crossing Byculla Bridge the school
house of the Scottish Education Society will be found at
the corner of Love Lane. The STRANGERS' HoME is also
in Love Lane. It was established in 1863 for the relief of
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of Bombay was held to establish a museum in com-
memoration of the suppression of the Mutiny. Lord
Elphinstone, the then Governor, finding the residents
readily subscribing large sums for the erection of a
suitable building, communicated to Queen Victoria
the resolutions passed by the meeting, when the
late Queen suggested that the Institution be called the
¢ Victoria and Albert Museum.” The Museum now
contains raw products, minerals, manufactures, illustra-
tions of some of the manufactures of the Presidency,
and natural history specimens, and is open to the public
on week-days, Wednesdays excepted, from 10-30 a.m. to
5-20 p.m.; and on Sundays from 7 a.m. to 10 a,m.,
and 2 p.m., to 6 p.m. Admission free.

After leaving the gardens the lofty central tower of
the Victoria JuBiLEE TEcHNICAL INSTITUTE building
forms a prominent object. The Institute was established
in 1887, in commemoration of Queen Victoria’s Jubilee,
and is located in a handsome building, the gift of Sir
Dinshaw Manockjee Petit. Science and Art classes
meet during the day and evening ; the object of the
Society being to train persons of either sex in the
industrial arts, grants being received from Government,
the Municipality, and millowners.

The tour northwards may now be brought to a close
at this point, and the visitor, in order to return to the
Fort by way of the Mazagon district, should retrace
his steps along the Parel Road towards Byculla
Bridge. Turning down the Victoria Road, the first
turning to the left after repassing the gardens, he should
on reaching the far end of that thoroughfare proceed to
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St. PETER’S CHURCL
by a resident of the district named Shephard. The
church is capable of seating about 230 persons, and
contains a memorial window to those who were drowned
in the P. & O. Steamer *¢ Carnatic.”” Its site has been
acquired for new Port Trust railway to Sion, but it is
projected to rebuild the Church in the neighbourhood.
Further along the road towards Mazagon Bunder, in
former years the landing place for mail steamer pass-
engers during the monsoon, will be found the massive
entrance gates to the P. & O. Dockvarp. The com-
pany's property is surrounded by a high wall within
which are steam factories and workshops capable of
turning out machinery for and repairing the vessels
of the P. & O. fleet that visit the port.

Returning to the St. Peter’s Schools and proceeding
south along De Lima Street, the Wari Bunder Goods
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station and sidings of the G. I, P. Railway will be
passed. The station covers a very extensive area and
during the grain season is exceptionally busy, the yards
being stacked with bags of grain brought down from
up-country for shipment, which are either taken to the
adjacent docks by bullock cart, or conveyed alongside
the vessels in railway wagons. At this point the stranger
will enter upon the Frere Road, one of the longest and
straightest thoroughfares in the city, and which passes
through the centre of the busy portion. of the town in
the vicinity of the docks.

The Dock Traffic Office is centrally placed between
the entrances to the Prince’s and Victoria docks, and is
provided with a large turret containing a clock and sur-
mounted by a time-ball that falls daily at noon. The
Traffic Office was commenced in January 1888, and
completed in June 1890. It is a handsome and sub-
stantial building, somewhat Italian in style, of local basalt
with facings of Coorla stone, the light yellow tint of the
latter contrasting most pleasantly with the deep blue of
the former. The building is three storeys high, with the
ground-floor 142 feet in length and 89 feet in breadth, 53
feet high to the top cornice, and 140 feet to the top of
the vane of the time-ball mast. On the north side are
located the offices of the Dock Superintendent and his
departmental staff officers, while on the south side are
the Traffic Manager and his staff; these take up the
ground and the first floor, while on the top flat there are
the audit offices and the quarters of the Dock Master.
Adjoining and to the south of the office a New Customs
House is in course of erection. Entering the Docks
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cwt. cranes in the dock, which is completely fitted with
hydraulic machinery.

The MEREwETHER DRy DoCK, situated at the north-
west corner of the Prince’s dock, is 550 feet long and
has an entrance of 65} feet. It is capable of receiving
the largest man-of-war or merchant vessel visiting the
port.

Facing the central gates of the docks is ST. NicHoLas
CuurcH, and the SEAMEN's INSTITUTE, and a few yards
further down, and on the opposite side of the road, the
SEAMEN’s ResT. Passing the end of the Carnac Road,
Carnac Bunder, the starting point of Messrs. Shepherd
& Co’s Goa and Cutch Coasting steamers, will be
found to the left. Extending southward for a con-
siderable distance on the right is the Carnac Bunder
Goods Station of the B. B. & C.I. Railway. Nearly
opposite the southern extremity of the goods yard is the
Frere Road Dhuramsala, a red brick building. Passing
the rear of St. George’s Hospital, part of old Fort St.
George will be seen, the walls of the ruins, the only
portion of the ancient outworks of the city, being loop~
holed for rifle fire. Having glanced at the massive oil
tanks belonging to the Bulk Oil Installations to the
left of the road, the visitor can then proceed directly
south to his hotel by way of the Mint Road.
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on an estate presented by the late Sir Dinshaw Manock-
jee Petit, and is worked in conjunction with the Bai Sa-
karbai Dinshaw Petit Hospital for Animals of the Bom-
bay Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals,
the Veterinary Officers of the College being ex-officio in
charge of the latter hospital. The special objects of the
College are to train competent practitioners for veteri-
nary service under Government, for private practice, for
service in Native States, and for special posts under
Municipalities, District Local Boards, etc.

At the rear of Government House, and approached
by way of Parel Village, is SEWREE CEMETERY. Situated
in what were formerly the old Botanical Gardens, it
now forms the only place in the Island for the burial of
Europeans. The well-kept churchyard nestles in a
valley between two hills. The Cemetery contains
many handsome monuments.

At Matoonga, some two miles north of Parel, is the
Leper AsvLuM, which contains six wards. The inmates
are well cared for, and instead of living the lives of out-
casts in misery, beggary,and much bodily pain, are
well housed, well treated, and their sufferings alleviated
to a remarkable degree.

Further north Sion Causeway will be noticed. A
fine stretch of backwater runs along the north of the
island from the causeway to that connecting Mahim
with Bandora.

BANDORA, although not strictly within the island, is a
favourite place of residence for many business men of
Bombay, who have their bungalows on the hill. The
railway station is an ornamental building. The St.Joseph’s
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ELepaaNTA CAvEs.—Visitors can proceed from the
Apollo Bunder to Elephanta Island during the fair
season by steam launch or sailing boat. Elephanta,
called by the natives Gharapuri, the town of excavation,
is an island 7 miles from Bombay. Elephanta, the
European name, was given to the island by the Portu-
guese in honour of a huge rock-cut elephant, now in
the Victoria Gardens, that stood on a knoll a little to
the east of the village. On landing, after passing over a
pier of concrete blocks, and mounting a flight of steps, a
terrace is reached, which commands a fine view of sea
and mountain, and leads to the front of the cave. The
cave forms two parts, a central hall about ninety feet
square, and four aisles or vestibules, each sixteen feet
deep. and fifty-four feet long. It rests on 26 pillars
(eight of them now broken) and 16 pilasters. As
neither floor nor roof of the cave is level, the pillars
vary in height from fifteen to seventeen feet. They
are strong, massive, and of considerable elegance.
The chief object which attracts the visitors is the
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the face. Among his ornaments are some of the pecu-
liar symbols of Shiv—a human skull over the temple ; a
leaf of the Gloriosa Superba, a branch apparently of the
milk-brush ; twisted snakes instead of hair, and high
up a cobra erect with outstretched hood. The right
face has generally been considered to be Shiv in the
character of Vishna the preserver holding a lotus flower
in his hand. The face is gentleand placid. The figures
at the portals are Hindu door-keepers.

In the compartment to the visitor’s left, or east of
the Triumvira, there is a gigantic four-armed half male
half-female figure representing Ardhanareshvar—that is
the God which combines the active or manlike, that is,
Shiv, and the passive or womanlike,—that is, Uma,
principles in nature. This figure, which is sixteen feet
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nine inches high, leans to the right, or male side, and
rests on the bull #and? with one of its forearms. The
right side has a crescent which, as well asthe cobra
with outstretched hood, wasa symbol of the Ling wor-
ship. The male arm holds a mirror and the female a
mirror. On the right of the figure is Brahma on his
lotus throne supported by five servants. Three of his
four faces are visible. A little nearer to Shivis Indra,
Lord of the Firmament, riding on the heavenly ele-
phant. In his left hand he carries the thunderbolt.
On the other side of Shiva Vishnu is seen riding on his
carrier, the half man, half eagle, called Garud. In the
compartment on the visitor’s right are two gigantic
figures of Shiv and Parvati. Shiv has a high cap on
. which are sculptured the crescent and the other em-
blems, and from it rises a cup, or shell, in which is a
singular three-headed female figure representing the
three sacred rivers—Ganges, Jumna, and Saresvati.
According to Hindu legend, the Ganges flowed from
the head of Shiv. On Shiv’s left stands Parvati in a
* graceful attitude. On Shiv’s right are Brahma and
Indra ; on Parvatis left is Vishnu on Garud.

To the west of the cave is a square chamber with
four doors facing the cardinal points. In the centre of
the chamber is the Ling or large conical stone intended
to represent the prolific power of nature. This is the
most sacred object in the cave. Around the chapel, on
the outside, are a number of large figures representing
door-keepers.

To the west of Shiv is the western aisle, and the
group in the south wall of this portico represents the
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that rest on the summits of Karlas, Behind Shiv and
Parvati is a female figure carrying a child on her hip
from which it has been supposed that the face represents
the birth of Ganesha or Gunpati, afterwards the ele-
phant-headed god of wisdom. If the visitor now faces
completely round and walks a few steps he will come to
a compartment in which is represented the attempt of
Ravan, the demon King of Ceylon, to remove Karlas,
the heavenly mountain. Ravan has ten heads and
arms, and is with his back to the spectator. Shiv with
eight arms is seen by Karlas, with Parvati on his right
and votaries in the background.

In order to get to the east wing the visitor must des-
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: cend a few steps and cross a courtyard. He will then come
" to some steps, on each side of which are stone tigers or
© leogriffs. Inthe centre of the east wing is a Ling-
: shrine. At the south end is a larger image of Ganesh,
The west wall is nearly filled with a row of ten colossal
figures standing on a base about two feet high. Most
of the figures are badly defaced.

~ Besides the great cave there are four other caves in

the island : two are on the same ridge as the one out of
which the great cave is excavated, the other two being
on the opposite ridge, and approached only by a path
through the jungle.

BasseIN.—To reach Bassein, which is now little bet-
ter than a city of ruins, the traveller should proceed by
B. B. & C. I. Railway to Bassein Road station. In 1534
the city was ceded to the Portuguese, and for more
than two centuries it remained in their possession and
rose to great prosperity under their rule, many noble
buildings being erected. In 1739 it was besieged by
the Mahrattas, and after a brave resistance captured by
them, though they did not long keep possession,
for in 1780 it was re-captured by the British. Two
years afterwards, by the treaty of Salbai, it was restored
to the Mahrattas, and in 1818, on the overthrow of the
- Peshwa, it was resumed by the English. The objects
of interest are the Cathedral of St. Joseph and the ruin-
ed citadel. Insidethe gate the whole place is strewn
with ruins. To the left are the ruins of a bastion with
the oldest inscription in Bassein. Behind the bastion
- are the ruined palaces of the General of the North and
. the Captain of Bassein. In the garden of the General
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Kennery Caves.—To Tanna by G. I. P. Railway,
thence 6 miles or to Borivli by B. B. & C, 1. Rail-
way, and thence 3 miles. These caves are all
excavated in the face of a single hill. There are
109 of them ; but though more numerous, are much
less interesting than those at Karli. The great cave is
88} feet long by 384 broad, with a vaulted nave 4o feet
high resting on 34 octagonal pillars. The Durbar cave
is 96} feet by 42} feet, but only 9 feet high. Traces of
painting can be seen in nearly all the caves. From the
top of the hill there is a splendid view of Bombay city
and harbour.

IcaTPUrL.—Is a sanitarium situated at the top of the
Thull Ghaut of the G. I. P. Railway, nearly two thou-
sand feet above the level of the sea, and is frequented
by European visitors during the hot season, the air be-
ing cool and invigorating. There are good and well
wooded camping grounds on elevated sites. The Rail-
way Company have locomotive works at Igatpuri, in
which they employ a large number of Europeans and
natives. There is a Church of England, and also
Methodist and Roman Catholic churches and schools,
an Institute, a Masonic Lodge, and a Co-operative
Store. Boating can be had on the lake which supplies
the town with water. There is a refreshment-room
the station and a Diak Bungalow a short distance away.

Nasig,—The city of Nasik, about 5 miles from the
Nasik Road Station of the G. I. P. Railway, contains
a Travellers’ Bungalow. Tongas can be obtained at
the railway station. The city, which is very ancient,
and considered sacred by the Hindus, is situated on the
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Height above sea level about 1,900 feet, It has been
said that Nasik derives its temperate climate from its
proximity to the sea, being only about 60 miles from
Bulsar, the fresh breezes from which find their way
through the Peiet gorges. Nasik is noted for an exten-
sive trade in copper and brass wares.

MaTHERAN.—From the Victoria Terminus by G.
I. P. Railway to Neral Station whence the road up the
hill, though broad enough for two ponies, is unfit for
carriages or carts, passes south through Neral village
for about a mile to the foot of the hill. During the
second mile the hill-side in places is cut into the rock,
winds about 550 feet up the western face of the spur,
and during the third mile rises to about 1,000 feet, the
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road leaving the plateau and climbing a rugged hill-side
strewn with boulders ard with lines of coarse withered
grass, dry underwood, and bare, leafless trees. Close to
the fourth mile, at a height of 1,525 feet, the road
enters the sheltered bit of the Neral wood with varied
lines of green and sprinkling of leafless grey. The end
of the fifth mile brings the traveller to a height of up-
wards of 2,000 feet. A little beyond the mile-mark
stands the hill on the crest of the neck between the high
headlands of Governor's Hill to the north and Garbat
Hill to the south. The hill-top, which has an estimat-
ed area of 5,0c0 acres, or about eight square miles,
consists of a main central block and two smaller side
ridges or wings. The central block, with an average
breadth of about half a mile, stretches nearly north and
south from the narrow ridge of Hart Point in the north
to Chauk in the south. Parallel with the main hill,
and joined to it by short necks, are two spurs, the larger
to the east, stretching about two and a half miles from
Panorama Point in the north to Garbat in the south,
and the smaller to the west, stretching about a mile and
a half from the sharp point of Porcupine to the large
bluff of Louisa Point. From the hill the east wing
runs north for about a mile and a quarter to the crest of
Governor’s Hill, and beyond to Panorama Point. South
of the hill a spur runs for nearly a mile to Garbat
Point. The Church stands on one of the highest
and most central sites on the hill, a little north of
the Superintendent’s residence. The foundation was
laid in 1858, and with the help of a Government grant
was completed by private subscriptions in 1861 at a
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1. For a Palkee or Tonjon with 12 bearers, Rs. 8.

2. For Wallace's Canvas Chair or Munchill with 6
bearers, Rs. 5.

3. For Jinricshaw with 5 bearers between, Rs. 8 to 10.

N. B.—Half charges are made for conveyances order-
ad hut At sscad
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‘ tute, a Masonic Lodge, and a Co-operative Store. The
. stationis much visited by Europeans during the hotseason,

and is well provided with bungalows and hotels. Lanowli

- 'Woods, to the right of the station, are a favourite camping
* ground and picnic resort. Some of the curious shaped
. trees in the wood are worth notice. A good road leads
. through the wood to a large lake some two miles distant

and to Sakar Pathar, a famous shooting ground about

. eight miles off. Karli Caves are easily accessible. Sohar-
: ghar, six miles away, is a hill fort formerly used as a
: state prison by the Peishwas. There area temple and
* mosque within the fort.

Karrl Caves,—The traveller will find it most - con-
venient to proceed from Lanowli to these caves. Karli
cave is certainly the largest as well as the most complete
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Chaitya cave hitherto discovered in India. It resembles
to a very great extent an early Christian church in its
arrangements, consisting of a nave and side aisles, termi-
nating in an apse or semi-dome round which the aisle
is carried. The general dimensions of the interior are
126 feet from the entrance to back walls, by 43 feet 7
inches in width.

Poona is the capital of the Deccan and headquarters
of the Bombay Army and seat of the Bombay Govern-
ment during the monsoon months, The climate is
temperate, and from June to September like an English
spring. Height above sea-level 1,850 feet; average
rainfall 35 inches. When the Peishwas became su-
preme in the Mahratta confederacy, the chief seat of
government was removed from Sattara to Poona, After
the deposition of the Peishwa Baji Rao (r818) the city
became the head-quarters of a British district. It is
still of considerable commercial importance, and is
famous for manufacture of silver and gold jewellery, and
of clay figures representing the natives of India.

The principal places of interest are :—

Albert Edward Institute, in East Street, contains a
library of about 1,000 volumes, and was built in com-
memoration of the visit of the King, then the Prince of
Wales. The building cost Rs. 15,000, and was opened
in 1880.

Bund Gardens, opened in 1869, on the completion of
the Fitzgerald bridge over the Mutha Mula river. The
grounds are well laid out, the lower terrace overlooking
the river and the Sir Jamsetjee Bund. There is an
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Sassoon Hospital was completed in 1867, the late
David Sassoon contributing Rs. 1,88,000 of the total
cost of construction, namely, Rs, 3,10,060. The build-
ing, which is in the English Gothic style, has accom-
modation for 144 patients.

Science College; on the road between Poona and
Kirkee, cost Rs. 1,81,647, and was opened in 1869. The
building is erected nearly in the form of a square, and
has a tower at its north-west corner. It contains a
large central hall, lecture-room, numerous class-rooms
and 2 museum. Attached are workshops and a foundry,
where the students are put to practical work as car-
penters, fitters, and smiths.

Gunesh Khind, the residence of the Governor during
his stay in Poona, is about five miles distant from the
city. The building which cost about Rs. 10,62,278,
was commenced during the tenure of office of Sir Bartle
Frere, and was finished in 1871. It is in the Italian
Gothic style, the main building, 300 feet in length,
having a tower, which is a conspicuous object, 100 feet
in height, In the south wing and centre of the build-
ing are the durbar and dining rooms, and a large con-
servatory.

The Empress Gardens, east of the Race Course, and
the Jewish Synagogue are worth a visit, while the visi-
tor having the time to spare should ride out of Poona
and see the Parbutty Hill and temples, with the ruined
palace of the Peishwa Balaji Baji Rao, Lake Fife, Kharak-
wasla, 11 miles distant ; Singhurh Fort, 14 miles dxstant
and Purandhar Fort, 20 miles from Poona, are also
worth visits.
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